Endoscopic Decompression of Spinal Cord for Adults with Sciatica or Low Back Pain (CPT 62380)

November 2017

Updated Information/Addendum



Center for Evidence-based Policy

Oregon Health & Science University 3030 SW Moody, Suite 250 Portland, OR 97201 Phone: 503.494.2182 Fax: 503.494.3807 www.ohsu.edu/policycenter

November 30, 2017

Table of Contents

Overview	1
Key Findings	1
Methods	1
Evidence Review	2
Findings	2
Quality and Limitations	4
Summary of the Evidence	4
Discussion	6
References	7
Appendix A. Methods	
Ovid MEDLINE Search Strategy	
Study Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria	
Quality Assessment	15
Appendix B. Articles Selected for Full-Text Review Inclusion/Exclusion Rationale	

Overview

This addendum provides an update to the October 2017 report by Ray, Thielke, and King (2017) that evaluated the evidence for the effectiveness and safety of endoscopic decompression of the spinal cord.

Key Findings

- One additional systematic review and 12 additional case series studies were identified in the updated search of the Ovid MEDLINE database.
- The fair methodological quality systematic review identified three studies that compared percutaneous endoscopic lumbar disc herniation (PELD) or microendoscopic decompression surgery (MED) to micro- or open discectomy for individuals with recurrent lumbar disc herniation (LDH). The three studies were included by the fair methodological systematic review (Li et al., 2016) previously evaluated in the October 2017 ("original") report by Ray et al. (2017).
- The 12 case series studies provide additional information on adverse events from endoscopic decompression surgery. Additional identified adverse events that were not included in the original report by Ray et al. (2017) include guide wire breakage, head and neck pain, numbness, and wound dehiscence.
- Based on the additional studies, there are no updates to the strength of evidence findings of the original report by Ray et al. (2017).

Methods

Center for Evidence-based Policy (Center) researchers searched Ovid MEDLINE for systematic reviews (with or without meta-analysis), technology assessments, and individual studies on the use of endoscopic decompression that were published between January 1, 2017 to November 20, 2017. The original report included systematic reviews and technology assessments published within the last 10 years, and updated the identified systematic reviews by including an additional search of the Ovid MEDLINE database for individual studies published between January 1, 2016, and August 9, 2017 (Ray et al., 2017). This report update is intended to identify any newly published studies since the search completed for the original report (Ray et al., 2017). Given the delay of article indexing in the PubMed database, the search dates of the original report and this update intentionally overlap.

Center researchers evaluated the methodological quality of systematic reviews and individual studies eligible for this report update using the methodology described in detail in Appendix A of the original report (Ray et al., 2017) and methodological quality assessment tools described in the New York State Department of Health's dossier process (available on pages 14 to 33 of the

Dossier Submission Form located on the New York State Department of Health <u>website</u>)¹. Center researchers followed the study inclusion and exclusion criteria as described in the original report (Ray et al., 2017). See Appendix A of the original report for a full description of methods (Ray et al., 2017).

Evidence Review

Findings

Center researchers, through a search of the Ovid MEDLINE database, identified one additional systematic review relevant to the effectiveness of endoscopic decompression for recurrent LDH that met inclusion criteria (Onyia & Menon, 2017).

Center researchers identified additional 12 case series studies published after the search dates from the most recent systematic reviews identified in the original report (Ray et al., 2017). Center researchers included case series for evaluation of potential harms if they included more than 15 individuals.

Figure 1 outlines the number of articles identified by the updated Ovid MEDLINE search and the total number of studies included in this updated literature search. The search strategies and list of studies reviewed in full text form with reasons for exclusion are in Appendices A and B, respectively.

Overview of Evidence Sources

Center researchers summarized the evidence as reported by the included systematic review. Center researchers did not review the methodological quality of eligible individual studies within the systematic review unless necessary for clarification of information reported in the systematic review. The studies included by the Onyia and Menon (2017) systematic review were also included in the Li et al. (2016) systematic review that was included in the original report by Ray et al. (2017).

Systematic Reviews with Meta-analysis

Onyia and Menon (2017)

Onyia and Menon (2017) conducted a fair methodological quality systematic review that compared the effectiveness and safety of different surgical approaches for the treatment of recurrent LDH (total n = 197). The authors conducted an extensive literature search for studies published between January 1, 2000, and January 29, 2017. The authors identified three comparative studies that reported on operating time, length of stay, pain, function, blood loss,

¹ Center researchers did not assess the methodological quality of the included case series. Case series studies are by definition non-comparative and are included to illustrate potential harms only. This type of study does not provide evidence of benefit. Any findings related to efficacy outcomes included in the case series studies are therefore are not included or described in this report.

and complications. The identified studies were also included by the fair methodological quality systematic review (Li et al., 2016) evaluated in the original report (Ray et al., 2017).

Individual Studies

Center researchers identified 12 case series studies from the updated search of the Ovid MEDLINE database. Because case series studies are non-comparative, these studies are included for estimates of harms only and formal methodological quality assessment was not done. There was significant heterogeneity across the included case series studies in terms of the type of endoscopic decompressive procedure used, geographic study location, patient demographics, and outcomes reported.



Figure 1. Search Results

± Articles were excluded if they did not meet predetermined inclusion criteria (e.g., PICO, study design, English language, publication date) as described in Appendix A.

+ Individual studies consisted of case series studies including more than 15 individuals and were included for harms only.

* Exclusion rationale provided in Appendix B.

Quality and Limitations

Center researchers rated the single identified systematic review as having fair methodological quality (Onyia & Menon, 2017). Center researchers did not assess the methodological quality of the individual studies included in Onyia and Menon (2017). Center researchers did not assess the methodological quality of the included case series studies.

Summary of the Evidence

The additional evidence is summarized in the tables below by outcomes of effectiveness and harms. Table 1 includes evidence for individuals with recurrent symptomatic LDH. Table 2 provides a summary on the incidence of adverse events reported in the additional case series studies. The adverse events reported in the additional case series studies are similar to those summarized in Table 4 of the original report by Ray et al. (2017). Incidence of infection, dural tears, nerve damage or root injury, fragment retention or incomplete decompression, dysesthesia, and hemorrhage were the most common reported adverse events in the original and additional case series studies identified. Additional adverse events that were not included in the original report by Ray et al. (2017) were reported by the additional case studies such as guide wire breakage, head and neck pain, numbness, and wound dehiscence. Several of the adverse events summarized in Table 4 of the original report by Ray et al. (2017) were not reported in the additional case series studies (e.g., bladder and bowel disturbance, paralysis, thrombosis, severe sensory radiculopathy).

Citation, Study Details	# of Studies (k) Population (n) <i>Individual Study</i> <i>Quality</i> ^a	Study Summary and Findings	Comments			
Systematic Review without Meta-analysis						
Onyia and Menon (2017) Search Dates 2000 to January 29, 2017 Eligible Study Designs Comparative studies Methodological Quality of the SR (assessed by Center researchers) Fair	k = 3 comparative studies total n = 197 <i>Methodological</i> <i>quality of included</i> <i>studies (assessed by</i> <i>the SR authors)</i> : Fair to poor	Comparators PELD vs. open discectomy or microdiscectomy Outcomes Author's conclusions: "Though quite few in number, each of these studies clearly demonstrate quite comparable outcomes among the various techniques evaluated, ranging from non-fusion techniques to surgeries which involved fusion. Overall results appear not to demonstrate any superiority of one method over the other for each, particularly in terms of relief of pain as a key symptom. In addition, the outcomes for the minimally invasive techniques also appear quite similar to those of the open conventional techniques." (p. 6).	The authors used the <i>Risk of Bias in Non-</i> <i>Randomized Studies of Interventions</i> <i>(ROBINS-I)</i> tool to assess study risk of bias, but do not factor this assessment into conclusions. The authors did not include studies with less than 10 participants. The included individual studies were also included by the fair methodological quality systematic review (Li et al., 2016) discussed in the original report by Ray et al. (2017).			

Table 1. Overview of Additionally Included Studies for Symptomatic Recurrent Lumbar Disc Herniation

Abbreviations. PELD: percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy; SR: systematic review.

Outcome	# of Case Series Studies Reporting Outcome	Incidence Ranges
Dural tear	9	0% to 6.4%
Nerve injury	8	0.4% to 4.0%
Surgical infections	8	0% to 1.6%
Dysesthesia	4	3.4% to 5.5%
Fragment retention or incomplete decompression	3	0.6% to 5.8%
Blood transfusion	2	0%
Numbness	2	4.0% to 7.1%
Discal cyst	1	2.0%
Guide wire breakage	1	0.8%
Head and neck pain	1	1.4%
Hematoma	1	0.7%
Paresthesia	1	3.1%
Transient motor weakness	1	3.6%
Wound dehiscence	1	2.0%

Table 2. Incidence of Adverse Events in Additional Case Series

Discussion

Center researchers identified one additional systematic review on the effectiveness and harms of endoscopic decompression for recurrent LDH and 12 additional case series studies that reported on harms from endoscopic decompression surgery. The individual studies included in the newly identified systematic review were also included by a systematic review evaluated in the original report by Ray et al. (2017). The newly identified case series studies provided additional information regarding the incidence of harms. This additional evidence does not change the strength of evidence findings from the original report by Ray et al. (2017).

References

- Akinduro, O. O., Kerezoudis, P., Alvi, M. A., Yoon, J. W., Eluchie, J., Murad, M. H., . . . Bydon, M. (2017). Open versus minimally invasive surgery for extraforaminal lumbar disk herniation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Neurosurgery*, *10*, 10. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.08.025</u>
- Campbell Collaboration. (2015). Campbell Collaboration systematic reviews: Policies and guidelines. *Campbell Systematic Reviews, Supplement 1*. doi: 10.4073/csrs.2015.1
- Casimiro, M. (2017). Short-term outcome comparison between full-endoscopic interlaminar approach and open minimally invasive microsurgical technique for treatment of lumbar disc herniation. *World Neurosurgery, 04*, 04. doi: https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.08.165
- Choi, K. C., Lee, D. C., Shim, H. K., Shin, S. H., & Park, C. K. (2017). A strategy of percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy for migrated disc herniation. *World Neurosurgery*, *99*, 259-266. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2016.12.052</u>
- Choi, K. C., Shim, H. K., Park, C. J., Lee, D. C., & Park, C. K. (2017). Usefulness of percutaneous endoscopic lumbar foraminoplasty for lumbar disc herniation. *World Neurosurgery*, *10*6, 484-492. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.07.035</u>
- Di Martino, A., Russo, F., Denaro, L., & Denaro, V. (2017). How to treat lumbar disc herniation in pregnancy? A systematic review on current standards. *European Spine Journal, 26*(Suppl 4), 496-504. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00586-017-5040-8</u>
- Eun, S. S., Eum, J. H., Lee, S. H., & Sabal, L. A. (2017). Biportal endoscopic lumbar decompression for lumbar disk herniation and spinal canal stenosis: A technical note. *Journal of Neurological Surgery*, 78(4), 390-396. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-0036-1592157</u>
- Fan, G., Han, R., Gu, X., Zhang, H., Guan, X., Fan, Y., . . . He, S. (2017a). Navigation improves the learning curve of transforamimal percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy. *International Orthopaedics*, 41(2), 323-332. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00264-016-3281-5</u>
- Fan, G., Wang, C., Gu, X., Zhang, H., & He, S. (2017b). Trajectory planning and guided punctures with isocentric navigation in posterolateral endoscopic lumbar discectomy. *World Neurosurgery*, 103, 899-905.e894. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.04.034</u>
- Fan, Y., Gu, G., Fan, G., Zhu, Y., Yang, Y., Gu, X., . . . He, S. (2017c). The effect of preoperative administration of morphine in alleviating intraoperative pain of percutaneous

transforaminal endoscopic discectomy under local anesthesia: A STROBE compliant study. *Medicine*, *96*(43), e8427. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000008427</u>

- Felbaum, D. R., Stewart, J. J., Distaso, C., & Sandhu, F. A. (2017). Complication rate in minimally invasive revision lumbar discectomy: A case series and technical note. *Clinical Spine Surgery*, 06, 06. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/BSD.000000000000513</u>
- Feng, F., Xu, Q., Yan, F., Xie, Y., Deng, Z., Hu, C., . . . Cai, L. (2017). Comparison of 7 surgical interventions for lumbar disc herniation: A network meta-analysis. *Pain Physician*, 20(6), E863-E871.
- Gu, Y. T., Cui, Z., Shao, H. W., Ye, Y., & Gu, A. Q. (2017). Percutaneous transforaminal endoscopic surgery (PTES) for symptomatic lumbar disc herniation: A surgical technique, outcome, and complications in 209 consecutive cases. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery*, *12*(1), 25. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13018-017-0524-0</u>
- Heo, J. H., Kim, C. H., Chung, C. K., Choi, Y., Seo, Y. G., Kim, D. H., . . . Jung, J. M. (2017). Quantity of disc removal and radiological outcomes of percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy. *Pain Physician*, *20*(5), E737-E746.
- Higgins, J. P. T., & Green, S. (Eds.). (2011). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. <u>http://handbook.cochrane.org/</u>.
- Hu, Q. F., Pan, H., Fang, Y. Y., & Jia, G. Y. (2017a). Percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy for high-grade down-migrated disc using a trans-facet process and pedicle-complex approach: A technical case series. *European Spine Journal*, 08, 08. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00586-017-5365-3</u>
- Hu, Z., Li, X., Cui, J., He, X., Li, C., Han, Y., . . . Li, L. (2017b). Significance of preoperative planning software for puncture and channel establishment in percutaneous endoscopic lumbar DISCECTOMY: A study of 40 cases. *International Journal Of Surgery*, *41*, 97-103. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2017.03.059</u>
- Kamson, S., Trescot, A. M., Sampson, P. D., & Zhang, Y. (2017). Full-endoscopic assisted lumbar decompressive surgery performed in an outpatient, ambulatory facility: Report of 5 years of complications and risk factors. *Pain Physician, 20*(2), E221-E231.
- Kang, Q., Li, X., Cheng, Z., & Liu, C. (2017). Effects of release and decompression techniques on nerve roots through percutaneous transforaminal endoscopic discectomy on patients with central lumbar disc herniation. *Experimental & Therapeutic Medicine*, 13(6), 2927-2933. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.3892/etm.2017.4293</u>

- Kapetanakis, S., Charitoudis, G., Thomaidis, T., Theodosiadis, P., Papathanasiou, J., & Giatroudakis, K. (2017). Health-related quality of life after transforaminal percutaneous endoscopic discectomy: An analysis according to the level of operation. *Journal of Craniovertebral Junction & Spine, 8*(1), 44-49. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.4103/0974-8237.199872</u>
- Kim, C. H., Chung, C. K., Kim, M. J., Choi, Y., Kim, M. J., Hahn, S., . . . Lee, J. H. (2017a). Increased volume of lumbar surgeries for herniated intervertebral disc disease and costeffectiveness analysis: A nationwide cohort study. *Spine*, *31*, 31. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000002473</u>
- Kim, H. S., Yudoyono, F., Paudel, B., Kim, K. J., Jang, J. S., Choi, J. H., . . . Lee, S. (2017b). Analysis of clinical results of three different routes of percutaneous endoscopic transforaminal lumbar discectomy for lumbar herniated disk. *World Neurosurgery*, 103, 442-448. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.04.008</u>
- Li, X., Hu, Z., Cui, J., Han, Y., Pan, J., Yang, M., . . . Li, L. (2016). Percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy for recurrent lumbar disc herniation. *International Journal of Surgery, 27*, 8-16. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2016.01.034</u>
- Li, Z. Z., Hou, S. X., Shang, W. L., Song, K. R., & Zhao, H. L. (2017). Modified percutaneous lumbar foraminoplasty and percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy: Instrument design, technique notes, and 5 years follow-up. *Pain Physician, 20*(1), E85-E98.
- Liu, C., Chu, L., Yong, H. C., Chen, L., & Deng, Z. L. (2017). Percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy for highly migrated lumbar disc herniation. *Pain Physician, 20*(1), E75-E84.
- Liu, C., & Zhou, Y. (2017). Percutaneous endoscopic lumbar diskectomy and minimally invasive transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion for recurrent lumbar disk herniation. *World Neurosurgery*, *98*, 14-20. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2016.10.056</u>
- Mahesha, K. (2017). Percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy: Results of first 100 cases. Indian Journal of Orthopaedics, 51(1), 36-42. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.4103/0019-5413.197520</u>
- McClelland, S., 3rd, & Goldstein, J. A. (2017). Minimally invasive versus open spine surgery: What does the best evidence tell us? *Journal of Neurosciences in Rural Practice*, 8(2), 194-198. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.4103/jnrp.jnrp_472_16</u>
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *PLoS Medicine*, 6(7), e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097

- Nakamura, J. I., & Yoshihara, K. (2017). Initial clinical outcomes of percutaneous full-endoscopic lumbar discectomy using an interlaminar approach at the L4-L5. *Pain Physician, 20*(4), E507-E512.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2014). *Developing NICE guidelines: The manual*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/media/default/about/what-we-do/our-programmes/developing-nice-guidelines-the-manual.pdf</u>
- Oertel, J. M., & Burkhardt, B. W. (2017). Endoscopic intralaminar approach for the treatment of lumbar disc herniation. *World Neurosurgery*, *103*, 410-418. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.03.132</u>
- Onyia, C. U., & Menon, S. K. (2017). The debate on most ideal technique for managing recurrent lumbar disc herniation: A short review. *British Journal of Neurosurgery*, 1-8. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02688697.2017.1368451</u>
- Overdevest, G. M., Peul, W. C., Brand, R., Koes, B. W., Bartels, R. H., Tan, W. F., . . . Leiden-The Hague Spine Intervention Prognostic Study, G. (2017). Tubular discectomy versus conventional microdiscectomy for the treatment of lumbar disc herniation: Long-term results of a randomised controlled trial. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 26, 26. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2016-315306</u>
- Phan, K., Xu, J., Schultz, K., Alvi, M. A., Lu, V. M., Kerezoudis, P., . . . Bydon, M. (2017). Fullendoscopic versus micro-endoscopic and open discectomy: A systematic review and meta-analysis of outcomes and complications. *Clinical Neurology & Neurosurgery*, 154, 1-12. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clineuro.2017.01.003</u>
- Ray, M., Thielke, A., & King, V. (2017). Endoscopic decompression of spinal cord for Adults with sciatica or low back pain (CPT 62380). Portland, OR: Center for Evidence-based Policy, Oregon Health and Science University. Retrieved from <u>https://www.health.ny.gov/health_care/medicaid/ebbrac/</u>.
- Ren, C., Li, Y., Qin, R., Sun, P., & Wang, P. (2017). Transforaminal endoscopic lumbar discectomy for lumbar disc herniation causing bilateral symptoms. *World Neurosurgery*, 106, 413-421. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.06.191</u>
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. (2015). *Methodology checklist 1: Systematic reviews* and meta-analyses. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sign.ac.uk/checklists-and-notes.html</u>
- Soman, S. M., Modi, J. V., & Chokshi, J. (2017). Feasibility of endoscopic discectomy by inter laminar approach at a high volume tertiary public hospital in a developing country. *The Journal of Spine Surgery*, *3*(1), 38-43. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jss.2017.03.10</u>

- Song, H., Hu, W., Liu, Z., Hao, Y., & Zhang, X. (2017). Percutaneous endoscopic interlaminar discectomy of L5-S1 disc herniation: A comparison between intermittent endoscopy technique and full endoscopy technique. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery*, 12(1), 162. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13018-017-0662-4</u>
- Song, H. P., Sheng, H. F., & Xu, W. X. (2017). A case-control study on the treatment of protrusion of lumbar intervertebral disc through PELD and MED. *Experimental & Therapeutic Medicine*, 14(4), 3708-3712. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.3892/etm.2017.4929</u>
- Staartjes, V. E., de Wispelaere, M. P., Miedema, J., & Schroder, M. L. (2017). Recurrent lumbar disc herniation after tubular microdiscectomy: Analysis of learning curve progression. World Neurosurgery, 107, 28-34. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.07.121</u>
- Tu, Z., Li, Y. W., Wang, B., Lu, G., Li, L., Kuang, L., & Dai, Y. (2017). Clinical outcome of fullendoscopic interlaminar discectomy for single-level lumbar disc herniation: A minimum of 5-year follow-up. *Pain Physician*, 20(3), E425-E430.
- Wang, S. J., Chen, B. H., Wang, P., Liu, C. S., Yu, J. M., & Ma, X. X. (2017a). The effect of percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy under different anesthesia on pain and immunity of patients with prolapse of lumbar intervertebral disc. *European Review for Medical & Pharmacological Sciences*, 21(12), 2793-2799.
- Wang, Y. P., Zhang, W., Zhang, J., Sun, Y. P., An, J. L., & Ding, W. Y. (2017b). Analysis of the clinical effects of transforaminal endoscopic discectomy on lumbar disk herniation combined with common peroneal nerve paralysis: A 2-year follow-up retrospective study on 32 patients. *Journal of pain research*, 10, 105-112. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S120463</u>
- Wu, J., Zhang, C., Lu, K., Li, C., & Zhou, Y. (2017). Percutaneous endoscopic lumbar reoperation for recurrent sciatica symptoms: A retrospective analysis of outcomes and prognostic factors in 94 patients. *World Neurosurgery*, 23, 23. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.10.077</u>
- Xie, T. H., Zeng, J. C., Li, Z. H., Wang, L., Nie, H. F., Jiang, H. S., . . . Kong, Q. Q. (2017). Complications of lumbar disc herniation following full-endoscopic interlaminar lumbar discectomy: A large, single-center, retrospective study. *Pain Physician*, 20(3), E379-E387.
- Xin, Z., Liao, W., Ao, J., Qin, J., Chen, F., Ye, Z., & Cai, Y. (2017). A modified translaminar osseous channel-assisted percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy for highly migrated and sequestrated disc herniations of the upper lumbar: Clinical outcomes, surgical indications, and technical considerations. *BioMed Research International*, 2017, 3069575. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2017/3069575</u>

- Yang, L., & Lu, H. H. (2017). Value of a new pathological classification of lumbar intervertebral disc herniation based on transforaminal endoscopic observations. *Experimental & Therapeutic Medicine*, 13(5), 1859-1867. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.3892/etm.2017.4201</u>
- Yao, Y., Liu, H., Zhang, H., Wang, H., Zhang, C., Zhang, Z., . . . Zhou, Y. (2017a). Risk factors for recurrent herniation after percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy. *World Neurosurgery*, 100, 1-6. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2016.12.089</u>
- Yao, Y., Zhang, H., Wu, J., Liu, H., Zhang, Z., Tang, Y., & Zhou, Y. (2017b). Comparison of three minimally invasive spine surgery methods for revision surgery for recurrent herniation after percutaneous endoscopic lumbar discectomy. *World Neurosurgery*, 100, 641-647.e641. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.01.089</u>

Appendix A. Methods

Ovid MEDLINE Search Strategy

To ensure that the most recent data were included, Center researchers searched Ovid MEDLINE from January 1, 2017, to November 20, 2017, for systematic reviews and individual studies on the use of endoscopic decompression. The search strategy from the original report by Ray et al. (2017) was used with modifications to the date limitations.

Database: Ovid MEDLINE Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, Ovid MEDLINE Daily, Ovid MEDLINE and Versions

Search Strategy:

- 1 Intervertebral Disc Degeneration/
- 2 Intervertebral Disc Displacement/
- 3 dis?opath\$.tw,ot
- 4 spondylodiscitis.tw,ot
- 5 (spondylochondrosis or chondrosis).tw,ot
- 6 (hernia\$ or perfora\$ or ruptur\$ or degenerat\$ or displac\$ or prolaps\$ or protru\$ or avuls\$ or compress\$ or extru\$).tw,ot
- 7 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6
- 8 Lumbar Vertebrae/
- 9 Lumbosacral Region/
- 10 8 or 9
- 11 Intervertebral Disc/
- 12 (intervertebral or intradiscal or intradiskal).tw,ot
- 13 11 or 12
- 14 10 and 13
- 15 (lumb\$ adj (disc\$ or disk\$)).tw,ot
- 16 14 or 15
- 17 exp surgical procedures, minimally invasive/
- 18 (microdis?ectom\$ or nucleotom\$ or nucleoplast\$ or annuloplasty or (microscop\$ adj dis?oto\$)).tw,ot
- 19 ((mini\$ adj3 invas\$) or mini?invas\$).tw,ot
- 20 automated percutaneous discectomy.tw,ot
- 21 laser.tw,ot
- 22 ((percutaneous or transforaminal) adj (microendoscop\$ or endoscop\$ or dis?oscop\$ or arthroscopy\$)).tw,ot
- 23 transmuscular tubular.tw,ot
- 24 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22 or 23

- 25 7 and 16 and 24
- 26 (animals not (humans and animals)).sh
- 27 25 not 26
- 28 limit 27 to english language
- 29 limit 28 to yr="2017 -Current"
- 30 limit 29 to (case reports or comment or editorial or interview or lectures or letter or personal narratives or video-audio media or webcasts)
- 31 29 not 30
- 32 remove duplicates from 31

Study Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Two Center researchers independently reviewed the results from the Center core sources and Ovid MEDLINE database searches at each stage of review (e.g., title and abstract, full text). Any study that was identified by at least one researcher as potentially meeting inclusion criteria was advanced to the next review level. All excluded studies were determined by two Center researchers as not meeting the predetermined inclusion criteria. Any disagreement between study reviewers regarding the inclusion of a study was arbitrated by a third Center researcher. Center researchers excluded studies that were not systematic reviews, meta-analyses, technology assessments, or individual studies (as applicable by topic); that were published before 2007; were published in a language other than English; or did not meet the specific inclusion/exclusion criteria outlined below.

Inclusion Criteria

Population: Adults with sciatica or low back pain arising from a ruptured, herniated, or bulging disc in the lumbar region, not responding to conservative management

Intervention: Endoscopic decompression of spinal cord or nerve root(s), including laminectomy, partial facetectomy, foraminotomy, discectomy and/or excision of herniated intervertebral disc, one interspace, lumbar (CPT code 62380)

Comparators: Microdiscectomy, open discectomy

Outcomes: Recovery time, change in pain (at least one year from procedure), function, quality of life, proportion of patients needing revision, adverse events (e.g., infection, bleeding, rehospitalization, morbidity, mortality), cost and cost-effectiveness

Exclusion Criteria

Study exclusion criteria included the following:

- Comments, letters, editorials, case reports
- Case series with a sample size <15 individuals
- Case series that did not report adverse events

- Studies reporting radiographic outcomes, surgery characteristics (e.g., operative time, incision size), or biological laboratory markers
- Systematic reviews that were assessed by Center researchers as having poor methodological quality
- Duplicate information from a research study published in more than one source (only the highest quality, most recent publication with outcomes of interest was included)
- Systematic reviews that included only studies summarized by more comprehensive, higher-quality, and/or more recently published systematic reviews
- Studies identified that were included in a summarized systematic review or technology assessment

Quality Assessment

Center researchers assessed the methodological quality of the included studies using standard instruments developed and adapted by the Center that are modifications of the systems in use by the Campbell Collaboration, Cochrane, the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA), the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), and the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) (Campbell Collaboration, 2015; Higgins & Green, 2011; Moher, Liberati, Tetzlaff, & Altman, 2009; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014; Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2015). Two Center researchers independently rated all studies. In cases where there was not agreement about the quality of a study, consensus was reached through discussion.

Each rater assigned the study a rating of good, fair, or poor, based on its adherence to recommended methods and potential for biases. In brief, good-quality systematic reviews include a clearly focused question, a literature search sufficiently rigorous to identify all relevant studies, criteria used to select studies for inclusion (e.g., RCTs) and assess study quality, and assessments of heterogeneity to determine whether a meta-analysis would be appropriate. Good-quality RCTs include a clear description of the population, setting, intervention, and comparison groups; a random and concealed allocation of patients to study groups; low dropout rates; and intention-to-treat analyses. Good-quality systematic reviews and RCTs also have low potential for bias from conflicts of interest and funding source(s). Fair-quality systematic reviews and RCTs have incomplete information about methods that might mask important limitations. Poor-quality systematic reviews and RCTs have clear flaws that could introduce significant bias.

Appendix B. Articles Selected for Full-Text Review Inclusion/Exclusion Rationale

Citation	Inclusion/Exclusion Rationale
Akinduro et al. (2017)	Exclude: Results not stratified by intervention
Casimiro (2017)	Exclude: Outcomes at 4 weeks or less
Choi, Lee, Shim, Shin, and Park (2017)	Exclude: Included in original report
Choi, Shim, Park, Lee, and Park (2017)	Exclude: Study design (case series, does not report harms)
Di Martino, Russo, Denaro, and Denaro (2017)	Exclude: Study design (narrative review)
Eun, Eum, Lee, and Sabal (2017)	Exclude: Study design (case series, does not report harms)
Fan et al. (2017a)	Included for harms
Fan et al. (2017c)	Included for harms
Fan, Wang, Gu, Zhang, and He (2017b)	Exclude: Case series n < 15
Felbaum, Stewart, Distaso, and Sandhu (2017)	Exclude: Results not stratified by intervention
Feng et al. (2017)	Exclude: Poor methodological quality
Gu, Cui, Shao, Ye, and Gu (2017)	Exclude: Included in original report
Heo et al. (2017)	Exclude: Included in original report
Hu, Pan, Fang, and Jia (2017a)	Exclude: Study design (case report)
Hu et al. (2017b)	Exclude: Intervention
Kamson, Trescot, Sampson, and Zhang (2017)	Exclude: Included in original report
Kang, Li, Cheng, and Liu (2017)	Exclude: Included in original report
Kapetanakis et al. (2017)	Exclude: Study design (case series, does not report harms)
Kim et al. (2017a)	Exclude: Applicability to U.S. setting
Kim et al. (2017b)	Included for harms
Li, Hou, Shang, Song, and Zhao (2017)	Included for harms
Liu, Chu, Yong, Chen, and Deng (2017)	Included for harms
Liu and Zhou (2017)	Exclude: Included in Onyia and Menon (2017) systematic review
Mahesha (2017)	Exclude: Included in original report
McClelland and Goldstein (2017)	Exclude: Results not stratified by intervention
Nakamura and Yoshihara (2017)	Included for harms

Citation	Inclusion/Exclusion Rationale
Oertel and Burkhardt (2017)	Included for harms
Onyia and Menon (2017)	Include
Overdevest et al. (2017)	Exclude: Intervention
Phan et al. (2017)	Exclude: Included in original report
Ren, Li, Qin, Sun, and Wang (2017)	Included for harms
Soman, Modi, and Chokshi (2017)	Exclude: Included in original report
Song, Hu, Liu, Hao, and Zhang (2017)	Included for harms
Song, Sheng, and Xu (2017)	Exclude: Outcome values not reported
Staartjes, de Wispelaere, Miedema, and Schroder (2017)	Exclude: Results not stratified by intervention
Tu et al. (2017)	Included for harms
Wang et al. (2017a)	Exclude: Intervention
Wang et al. (2017b)	Exclude: Included in original report
Wu, Zhang, Lu, Li, and Zhou (2017)	Exclude: Study design (case series, does not report harms)
Xie et al. (2017)	Included for harms
Xin et al. (2017)	Exclude: Case series n < 15
Yang and Lu (2017)	Included for harms
Yao et al. (2017a)	Exclude: Included in original report
Yao et al. (2017b)	Exclude: Included in original report

About the Center for Evidence-based Policy

The Center for Evidence-based Policy (Center) is recognized as a national leader in evidence-based decision making and policy design. The Center understands the needs of policymakers and supports public organizations by providing reliable information to guide decisions, maximize existing resources, improve health outcomes, and reduce unnecessary costs. The Center specializes in ensuring that diverse and relevant perspectives are considered and appropriate resources are leveraged to strategically address complex policy issues with high-quality evidence and collaboration. The Center is based at Oregon Health & Science University in Portland. Oregon.

Suggested citation: Ray, M., Thielke, A., & King, V. (2017). *Endoscopic decompression of spinal cord for adults with sciatica or low back pain (CPT 62380)*. *Updated information/addendum*. Portland, OR: Center for Evidence-based Policy, Oregon Health & Science University.

<u>Conflict of Interest Disclosures</u>: No authors have conflicts of interest to disclose. All authors have completed and submitted the Oregon Health & Science University form for Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest, and none were reported.

<u>Funding/Support</u>: This research was funded by the Center for Evidence-based Policy's Medicaid Evidence-based Decisions Project at Oregon Health & Science University.

This document was prepared by the Center for Evidence-based Policy at Oregon Health & Science University (Center). This document is intended to support Medicaid Evidence-based Decisions Project (MED) participant organizations and their constituent decision-making bodies to make informed decisions about the provision of health care services. The document is intended as a reference and is provided with the understanding that the Center is not engaged in rendering any clinical, legal, business, or other professional advice. The statements in this document do not represent official policy positions of the Center, MED, or MED participating organizations. Researchers and authors involved in preparing this document have no affiliations or financial involvement that conflict with material presented in this document.